
Special Cabinet
Agenda

Wednesday, 17th October, 2018
at 5.30 pm

in the

Council Chamber
Town Hall
Saturday Market Place
King’s Lynn





King’s Court, Chapel Street, King’s Lynn, Norfolk, PE30 1EX
Telephone: 01553 616200
Fax: 01553 691663

SPECIAL CABINET AGENDA

DATE: CABINET - WEDNESDAY, 17TH OCTOBER, 2018

VENUE: COUNCIL CHAMBER, TOWN HALL, SATURDAY 
MARKET PLACE, KING'S LYNN PE30 5DQ

TIME: 5.30 pm

As required by Regulations 5 (4) and (5) of The Local Authorities 
(Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 
(England) Regulations 2012  - Item 10  below will be considered in 
private.  

Should you wish to make any representations in relation to the meeting 
being held in private for the consideration of the above item, you should 
contact Democratic Services

1.  APOLOGIES 

To receive apologies for absence.

2.  URGENT BUSINESS 

To consider any business, which by reason of special circumstances, the 
Chairman proposes to accept, under Section 100(b)(4)(b) of the Local 
Government Act 1972.

3.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Please indicate if there are any interests which should be declared.  A 
declaration of an interest should indicate the nature of the interest (if not 
already declared on the Register of Interests) and the agenda item to which it 
relates.  If a disclosable pecuniary interest is declared, the member should 
withdraw from the room whilst the matter is discussed.

These declarations apply to all Members present, whether the Member is part 



of the meeting, attending to speak as a local Member on an item or simply 
observing the meeting from the public seating area.

4.  CHAIRMAN'S CORRESPONDENCE 

To receive any Chairman’s correspondence.

5.  MEMBERS PRESENT UNDER STANDING ORDER 34 

To note the names of any Councillors who wish to address the meeting under 
Standing Order 34.

6.  CALLED IN MATTERS 

To report on any Cabinet Decisions called in.

7.  MATTERS REFERRED TO CABINET FROM OTHER BODIES 

To receive any comments and recommendations from other Council bodies 
which meet after the dispatch of this agenda. 

Environment and Community Panel – 11 October 2018  - to follow

8.  REVISION TO THE LOCAL PROPERTY INVESTMENT FUND CRITERIA 
(Pages 6 - 10)

9.  EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 

The Cabinet is asked to consider excluding the public from the meeting under 
section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972 for consideration of the item 
below on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined by paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act, 
and that the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public 
interest in disclosing the information. 

PRIVATE ITEM
Details of any representations received about why the following reports should 
be considered in public will be reported at the meeting.

10.  LEISURE SERVICES PROVISION (Pages 11 - 45)

To: Members of the Cabinet

Councillors A Beales, R Blunt, I Devereux, P Hodson, A Lawrence, B Long 
(Chairman), Mrs K Mellish and Mrs E Nockolds (Vice-Chairman)

For Further information, please contact:

Sam Winter, Democratic Services Manager  01553 616327
Borough Council of King's Lynn & West Norfolk



King’s Court, Chapel Street
King’s Lynn PE30 1EX



REPORT TO CABINET

Open
Any 
especially 
affected 
Wards
None

Mandatory
Would any decisions proposed :

(a) Be entirely within Cabinet’s powers to decide      No

(b) Need to be recommendations to Council     Yes

(c) Is it a Key Decision No
Other Cabinet Members consulted: Lead Member: Councillor Brian 

Long
E-mail:cllr.brian.long@west-
norfolk.gov.uk

Other Members consulted: 

Lead Officer: Lorraine Gore
E-mail: lorraine.gore@west-
norfolk.gov.uk
Direct Dial: 01553 616432

Other Officers consulted:  Management Team

Financial 
Implications 
YES

Policy/Personnel 
Implications
NO

Statutory 
Implications 
(incl S.17)
NO

Equal 
Opportunities 
Implications 
NO

Risk 
Management 
Implications
YES

Date of meeting: 17 October 2018

Revision to the Local Property Investment Fund Criteria

Summary

The Capital and Local Property Investment Fund Strategy, supported by a number of 
other documents, provides a framework for the delivery of the capital programme and 
ensures that capital investment is directed to the Council’s Corporate Priorities and 
helps achieve the Financial Sustainability Plan. It therefore provides the rationale for 
any capital spending and property investment plans. 

RECOMMENDATION

Cabinet recommend to Council that the criteria for the Local Property Investment 
Fund is revised to remove the restriction limiting property investment opportunities to 
the local area and extend the criteria to the whole of Norfolk as detailed in the report. 

Reason for Decision

To increase flexibility within the Local Property Investment Fund. 

6

Agenda Item 8



1. Purpose

1.1 The purpose of the Capital and Local Property Investment Strategy is 
to outline the Borough Council of King’s Lynn and West Norfolk’s 
(BCKLWN) approach to capital investment and how the Council 
ensures that capital investment is directed to the Council’s Corporate 
Priorities and helps achieve the Financial Sustainability Plan. It 
therefore provides the rationale for capital spending and property 
investment plans.

1.2 The Local Property Investment Fund as detailed in the Capital and 
Local Property Investment Fund Strategy 2017-2021 was 
recommended to Council by Cabinet at the meeting on 31 January 
2017.  Council approved the strategy at the meeting on minute C:80i 
refers.

2. Revised CIPFA Prudential Code and MHCLG Statutory Guidance

2.1 Local authorities are required by regulation to have regard to the 
Prudential Code when carrying out their duties in England and Wales 
under Part 1 of the Local Government Act 2003.  Since the Prudential 
Code was last updated in 2011, the landscape for public service 
delivery has changed significantly following the sustained period of 
reduced public spending and the developing localism agenda. It 
reflects the increasing diversity in the sector and new structures, whilst 
providing for streamlined reporting and indicators to encourage better 
understanding of local circumstances and improve decision making.

2.2 CIPFA released an updated version of the Prudential Code in 
December 2017.   The latitude for local authorities to set the scope and 
size of their capital plans remains unrestricted, but the prudential 
system processes have been strengthened to set out greater 
consideration of prudence, with financial sustainability and risk 
reporting improved through the governance procedures with the 
requirement to determine a capital strategy annually alongside the 
Treasury Management Strategy.  A report detailing the Capital Strategy 
for the Borough Council for 2019/2020 will be presented to Cabinet in 
February 2019. 

2.3 During the consultation for the revised Prudential Code there was 
suggestion that MHCLG would prohibit investments out of area, 
ultimately they did not do that but instead strengthened the 
transparency requirements in the statutory guidance, especially around 
non-financial investments, commentary around proportionality of 
investments, contribution the investments make to service objectives, 
knowledge and skills of those taking the decisions, borrowing in 
advance of need, and risk management.

7



2.4 The MHCLG statutory guidance states:

Local authorities should disclose the contribution that all other 
investments make towards the service delivery objectives and/or place 
making role of that local authority. It is for each local authority to define 
the types of contribution that investments can make and a single 
investment can make more than one type of contribution.

As defined in paragraph 4 of this guidance non-financial investments 
are non-financial assets that the organisation holds primarily or partially 
to generate a profit. Where a local authority holds a non-financial 
investment, it will normally have a physical asset that can be realised to 
recoup the capital invested. Local authorities should consider whether 
the asset retains sufficient value to provide security of investment using 
the fair value model in International Accounting Standard 40: 
Investment Property as adapted by proper practices.

Where a local authority is or plans to become dependent on profit 
generating investment activity to achieve a balanced revenue budget, 
the Strategy should detail the extent to which funding expenditure to 
meet the service delivery objectives and/or place making role of that 
local authority is dependent on achieving the expected net profit. In 
addition, the Strategy should detail the local authority’s contingency 
plans should it fail to achieve the expected net profit.

2.4 The Council must decide on its treasury and non-financial investments 
having regard to the prudential framework and statutory guidance. 

3. Local Property Investment Fund

3.1 The Council Local Property Investment Fund was established to be 
managed as part of the Treasury Management function, with the aim of 
generating a higher return over the longer term, with the added benefit 
of business rates/council tax growth and wider benefits to the local 
economy.

3.2 The local area has been construed as opportunities within the borough 
boundaries of King’s Lynn and West Norfolk.  Within the borough 
boundaries the three main urban areas, where property investments 
are more likely, are King’s Lynn, Hunstanton and Downham Market 
with the latter two towns being relatively small market towns with 
limited property investment opportunities.

8



3.3 Since the policy for the Local Property Investment Fund was adopted in 
2016 very few opportunities have arisen within the borough 
boundaries.  The main opportunities have been within the retail sectors 
in King’s Lynn which at present represents too great a risk and 
therefore does not comply with the other conditions set out within the 
policy and would therefore not be recommended to Cabinet for 
consideration.  The reason these investments have been considered 
too high a risk is that the retail sector has been, and still is, somewhat 
turbulent with rental levels being impacted.  The retail property 
investments available for acquisition have been over-rented with the 
tenants being tied in to leases with upward only rent reviews – which 
means that the rent income streams will dramatically reduce on lease 
expiry (which will ultimately adversely affect the assets capital value) 
even if the existing tenants wish to renew their lease(s).

3.2 It is proposed that the restriction limiting property investment 
opportunities to the local area is removed and the criteria extended to 
include the whole of Norfolk.  This would provide greater opportunity to 
acquire investment properties whilst still maintaining the benefit of 
sustaining/growing business rates in Norfolk from which the Borough 
Council would also benefit as a member of the Norfolk Business Rates 
Pool.

3.5 It is proposed that with the addition of the change set out in 3.2 above, 
the criteria for the Local Property Investment Fund would therefore be: 

 Business case required which considers options, risk, return, fit 
with corporate priorities and reputation

 Investment opportunities are only considered which are located 
in Norfolk

 Total funds to be allocated to the Local Property Fund to be 
capped at £7.5m which is 30% of the Council’s core investment 
funds of £25m

 No one investment to be more than £2m under the delegated 
authority. Individual investment opportunities in excess of £2m 
will require Cabinet approval.  The Treasury Management 
Strategy limit is no more than £4m with any counterparty

 Annual financial returns ie rental income, from the property 
investment opportunities taken up will generate additional 
revenue income to the Council and help to meet the cost 
reduction targets set out in the medium term Financial Plan and 
the Council’s ‘efficiency plan’

9



 Investment properties are revalued annually as part of the 
Council’s closedown of accounts and any movement in value 
will be reported in the Statement of Accounts.  Any uplift in 
valuations will not be realised unless the asset is sold.  The 
value of the total fund may increase above the £7.5m initial fund 
allocation to reflect annual revaluations

 
 Investment decisions in respect of the Local Property 

Investment Fund for acquisition and disposal of assets held in 
the Fund to be delegated to; the Deputy Chief Executive (S151 
Officer) in consultation with the Leader, relevant Portfolio Holder 
for Regeneration, a third Portfolio Holder, and the Property 
Services Manager. 

4. Financial Implications

4.1 The investment in property in Norfolk will generate a higher return over 
the longer term than traditional investment vehicles.  In addition there 
will be added benefits of increased business rates/council tax growth 
for the council. 

5 Policy Implications

5.1 The Local Property Investment Fund is operated within the Council’s 
existing Treasury Management function. The restriction limiting 
property investment opportunities to the local area will be removed and 
the criteria extended to include the whole of Norfolk.  

5.2 Investment decisions in respect of the Local Property Investment Fund 
for acquisition and disposal of assets held in the Fund to be delegated 
to; the Deputy Chief Executive (S151 Officer) in consultation with the 
Leader, relevant Portfolio Holder for Regeneration, a third Portfolio 
Holder, and the Property Services Manager. 

6 Risk Assessment

6.1 The Council already holds £24m (balance sheet 31 March 2016) of 
investment properties, industrial and commercial properties and land.  
Investment in a property fund requires a commitment to the investment 
over the longer term.  The value of property can go or down and in the 
event of a decline in property values the council will need to commit to 
holding the property until values recover and take additional borrowing 
if funds are required in the short term.

Access to Information
Capital Strategy and Local Property Investment Fund 2017/2021

MHCLG Statutory Guidance
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/
attachment_data/file/678866/Guidance_on_local_government_investments.pd
f

10

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/678866/Guidance_on_local_government_investments.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/678866/Guidance_on_local_government_investments.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/678866/Guidance_on_local_government_investments.pdf


Document is Restricted

11

Agenda Item 10
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

26

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

40

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Document is Restricted

42

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2, 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.


	Agenda
	8 REVISION TO THE LOCAL PROPERTY INVESTMENT FUND CRITERIA
	10 LEISURE SERVICES PROVISION
	Appendix 1 Alive Leisure Business Proposal Oct2018_Master FINAL
	Appendix 2 doc00606820180907124738
	Appendix 3 Paper ALT Leisure Options 01-10-2018


